

# TranState Working Papers

Between Collaboration AND COMPETITION GLOBAL PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS AGAINST INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CRIMES

CHRISTOPHER PAUN

Universität Bremen • University of Bremen

Jacobs Universität Bremen • Jacobs University Bremen

Universität Oldenburg • University of Oldenburg

Staatlichkeit im Wandel • Transformations of the State

Sonderforschungsbereich 597 • Collaborative Research Center 597

Christopher Paun
Between Collaboration and Competition Global Public-Private Partnerships against Intellectual Property Crimes
TranState Working Papers
No. 149
Sfb597 "Staatlichkeit im Wandel" – "Transformations of the State"  Bremen, 2011  [ISSN 1861-1176]

# **Christopher Paun**

Between Collaboration and Competition. Global Public-Private Partnerships against Intellectual Property Crimes.

(TranState Working Papers, 149)

Bremen: Sfb 597 "Staatlichkeit im Wandel", 2011

ISSN 1861-1176

Universität Bremen

Sonderforschungsbereich 597 / Collaborative Research Center 597

Staatlichkeit im Wandel / Transformations of the State

Postfach 33 04 40

D - 28334 Bremen

Tel.:+ 49 421 218-8720

Fax:+ 49 421 218-8721

Homepage: http://www.staatlichkeit.uni-bremen.de

Diese Arbeit ist im Sonderforschungsbereich 597 "Staatlichkeit im Wandel", Bremen, entstanden und wurde auf dessen Veranlassung unter Verwendung der ihm von der Deutschen Forschungsgemeinschaft zur Verfügung gestellten Mittel veröffentlicht.

Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft



# Between Collaboration and Competition Global Public-Private Partnerships against Intellectual Property Crimes

### **ABSTRACT**

This paper explores the issue area of global public-private partnerships (PPPs) against intellectual property (IP) crimes. It is based on preliminary findings from a PhD research project that included interviews with more than 30 participants of such PPPs from different countries around the world. Key factors that influence the formation, maintenance, termination, and reform of such partnerships are identified by comparing more and less successful PPPs over a period of time.

First, the paper introduces the topic of IP crime, also known as counterfeiting and piracy. The paper then proposes a typology of different PPPs, as the term is used in very different ways in the literature. In the subsequent sections of the paper, empirical examples of global PPPs against IP crimes are analyzed, whose secretariats are hosted by three public international organizations: Interpol, the World Customs Organization (WCO), and the World Health Organization (WHO).

By comparing the different paths of these three international organizations and their PPPs, five key factors are identified that influence the formation, maintenance, termination, and reform of such PPPs: (1) common ground, (2) absolute and/or relative gains of resources, (3) the management of the PPP and its discretion, (4) the representation of stakeholders, and (5) the policy pursued by the PPP.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The research for this paper would not have been possible without the support of the many participants of the analyzed PPPs and other stakeholders who were willing to talk with me about their experience with these PPPs and share unpublished documents, such as meeting agendas, participant lists, minutes, reports, or correspondence. I would like to thank Aline Plançon, Bill Dobson, Bob Barchiesi, Brad Huther, Brian Monks, Christophe Zimmermann, Dave Simpson, David Blakemore, David Finn, Gina Veterre, Heike Wollgast, Jeff Hardy, John Newton, Kaitlin Mara, Michael Buchan, Philippe Vorreux, Richard Heath, Rob Calia, Ronald Brohm, Sabine Kopp, Tom Kubic, William New, Wolfgang Starein and the many people who gave me an interview under the condition of anonymity. I would also like to thank my doctoral supervisors Prof. Dr. Peter Mayer and Prof. Dr. Gralf-Peter Calliess and the entire Bremen International Graduate School of Social Sciences (BIGSSS) for their support of my research.

# **CONTENTS**

Introduction: Law Enforcement Goes Transnational	1
WHAT ARE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CRIMES?	3
WHAT ARE PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS?	6
INTERPOL AND THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CRIME ACTION GROUP	9
THE WORLD CUSTOMS ORGANIZATION (WCO) AND THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS STRATEGIC GROUP	12
THE WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO) AND THE INTERNATIONAL MEDICAL PRODUCTS ANTI-COUNTERFEITING TASKFORCE (IMPACT)	16
FINDINGS FROM A COMPARISON OF PPPS AGAINST IP CRIME	19
CONCLUSION	23
References	24
BIOGRAPHICAL NOTE	30

# Between Collaboration and Competition Global Public-Private Partnerships against Intellectual Property Crimes

# INTRODUCTION: LAW ENFORCEMENT GOES TRANSNATIONAL

The International Criminal Police Organization (Interpol) and the World Customs Organization (WCO) have declared October 5-12, 2010 the "Internet Week of Action" against counterfeit and illicit medicines. Unlike some other "weeks of" that are declared by international organizations, this week was not just a symbolic act. It demonstrated how police, customs, and drug regulatory agencies from different countries collaborate with each other, and with security professionals from the pharmaceutical industry and the payment service industry against illegal online pharmacies. As a result of this week, more than 11,000 packages have been seized, 297 websites have been taken down, and investigations against 87 individuals have been started around the globe. Forty-four countries participated in this operation, including Angola, Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Cuba, Israel, Japan, Jordan, Mexico, Russia, South Africa, Thailand, the United States, and most member states of the European Union (AIFA 2011: 106).

This Internet Week of Action was part of Operation Pangea, which has been conducted annually since 2008 with an increasing number of participating countries, and has led to more and more seizures and arrests. The operation is named after the prehistoric supercontinent in order to symbolize the coming together of different parts of the world. However, Pangea is only one example of many transnational public-private partnerships (PPP) against illicit trade with counterfeit products. Some partnerships focus on one product category like medical products; others cover a wide range of counterfeit and pirated products, such as clothes, DVDs, cigarettes, agrochemicals, electric appliances, toys, car parts, and beverages.

Public international organizations<sup>1</sup> (IOs), such as Interpol, the World Customs Organization (WCO) or the World Health Organization (WHO), act as facilitators of such transnational public-private collaboration. These IOs are only composed of public sector members. However, for the purpose of collaboration, special transnational public-private partnerships have been established, where actors from the public and the private sector are both members. The purpose of this paper is to analyze three such PPPs: the Interpol Intellectual Property Crime Action Group (IIPCAG), the World Customs Organization Intellectual Property Rights Strategic Group (WCO IPR SG), and the World

The term "public IO" denotes international organizations with public sector members only (as used by Amerasinghe 2005, Slaughter 2004, or Reinicke 1998). It is meant to include intergovernmental organizations and transgovernmental organizations (as used by Archer 2001 or Keohane and Nye 1974).

Health Organization International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce (WHO IMPACT).

Transnational PPPs are increasingly being observed in many policy areas (Schäferhoff et al. 2009, Andonova 2006, Börzel and Risse 2005). However, law enforcement PPPs are surprising, because states are usually very reluctant to loosen their grip on the monopoly of the legitimate use of force (Jachtenfuchs 2005: 50). As this monopoly is considered to be the constituting characteristic of the modern nation state (Weber 1972: 29), global law enforcement PPPs can be considered a least-likely case for the creation and functioning of transnational PPPs in general. In the case of these law enforcement PPPs, the actual application of force is still done by national law enforcement agencies, but the entire decision-making process about when, where, why, and how to apply force is heavily influenced by partners from international organizations, from other countries, and from the private sector.

International law enforcement cooperation against transnational organized crime is often presented in media reports as a relationship between savvy criminals who exploit globalization and law enforcement officers who are limited by national borders, jurisdiction, and bureaucratic hurdles (e.g. Naím 2003). However, globalization not only affects the legal and illegal economy. Nation states and national law enforcement agencies have also adapted to it, as shown by research about international crime policies and international law enforcement cooperation (Andreas and Nadelmann 2006). This study contributes to this research area by showing that law enforcement agencies do not only collaborate internationally, but that simultaneous collaboration with the private sector results in transnational<sup>2</sup> law enforcement.

Thereby this study is also a contribution to research about the changing role of the modern territorial nation state (Leibfried and Zürn 2005). This change can take place in the dimension of internationalization, of decentralization, of privatization, and of statization (figure 1). Nation states can delegate or lose law enforcement competencies to the sub-national level, such as in community policing projects (Brogden and Nijhar 2005, Paun 2008), to the private sector (Jones and Newburn 2006), to the international level (Andreas and Nadelmann 2006), or to the European level (Jachtenfuchs 2005) – as a special form of internationalization. The statization of policing can be found in studies of the historical development of policing together with the rise of the modern nation state (Roberg et al. 2000: 32, Mawby 1999, Waddington 1999, Horton 1995: 7). When it comes to the combined effects of internationalization and privatization - the transna-

- 2 -

The term "transnational relations" denotes interactions across national borders that involve at least one non-state actor (Risse 2002: 255).

tionalization of law enforcement - there is a gap in the current state of research, with only very few exceptions (e.g. Abrahamsen and Williams 2009, Johnston 2000).

Statization — Law Enforcement — Privatization

Dezentralization

Fig. 1: Changes to the Role of the Nation State for Law Enforcement

Source: own illustration inspired by Leibfried and Zürn 2005: 15

This study is meant to contribute its part to fill this gap of the current state of research with the example of transnational public-private partnerships against intellectual property crimes. All PPPs in this study have a global reach and fight against intellectual property crimes, be it in one product area or many. But these commonalities did not lead to the same results in terms of PPP structure, size, durability, and activities. While Interpol's PPP is constantly growing, the WCO's PPP was growing for several years before it was terminated in 2007 and a reformed PPP was set up, which was again terminated in 2009 and succeeded by another PPP in a political controversy. The WHO has seen initial growth of their PPP, but soon political controversies arose. An intergovernmental working group has to decide whether to terminate or reform this PPP. This paper analyzes and compares theses different PPPs. Before proceeding to their analysis, two sections of this paper clarify what is meant by intellectual property crimes and what is meant by public-private partnerships. After the subsequent three sections about the case studies, a comparative section identifies factors that contributed to the formation, maintenance, termination, or reform of these PPPs.

# WHAT ARE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CRIMES?

Intellectual property (IP) crimes are acts that violate criminal law and infringe IP rights, such as trademarks, copyrights, or patents. In many cases the infringement of IP rights constitutes a criminal act itself. The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) requires member states of the World Trade Organization (WTO) to criminalize trademark counterfeiting and copyright piracy on a commercial

scale (TRIPS Art. 61). Therefore the fight against this "counterfeiting and piracy" is the focus of most activities against IP crime. However, some states have chosen to go beyond TRIPS requirements and also criminalize infringements of other IP rights, such as patents. IP infringing activities may also be considered criminal if they are committed in concurrence with other acts that are criminal, such as fraud or smuggling. If the use of dangerous counterfeit products results in deaths, it can also be addressed as negligent homicide. The director of the Nigerian Food and Drugs Administration even spoke of mass murder in the case of deadly counterfeit medicine (Akunyili 2007).

It is very difficult to quantify the overall effects of IP crime. The number of unreported cases can only be estimated, but it is expected to be much higher than the number of reported cases. It is also difficult to assess the rate in which IP infringing products substitute legal products in the market; and it is especially difficult to assess all the effects beyond the lost revenue from the legal products, such as health and safety risks, loss of brand value, or reduced incentives for research and innovation (GAO 2010). For a global assessment, the most frequently cited figure comes from the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. According to their study, "international trade in counterfeit and pirated goods could account for up to USD 200 billion in 2005." (OECD 2008:96) As this is a maximum figure within the OECD calculation model, the actual figure could be lower. But it could also be much higher, because the OECD study did not include domestic trade, the trade with intangible goods over the internet; and it did not include many other factors, such as loss of brand value, reduced incentives for research and innovation, or health and safety risks. Besides these negative effects, a comprehensive study on the effects of IP crime would also need to address the positive effects. While it is unpopular to speak about "positive effects of crime", these effects can be an important factor in explaining the prevalence of IP crime and the difficulties to fight it. For example, factories that produce counterfeit products and businesses that trade with them can provide jobs and income for many people. And consumers may be able to save money with pirated music, movies or computer software.

However, due to the health and safety risks of many counterfeit products, IP crimes are increasingly seen not only as an economic issue but also as a threat to human security. For example, a plane flying from Norway to Germany in 1989 crashed due to the failure of a counterfeit spare part and killed 55 people (UNICRI 2007:55). 13 babies died in China in 2004 from being given counterfeit baby food (ICC 2008: 141). 23 people died in Turkey in 2005 due to drinking a counterfeit beverage (UNICRI 2007: 51). And 50,000 people received counterfeit meningitis vaccines in Niger in 1995 resulting in 2,500 deaths (WHO 2006: 2). Besides the specific risks for consumers of counterfeit products, intellectual property crimes can also be seen as a security risk for the general public, as proceeds of intellectual property crimes go to organized crime groups. The

common definitions of organized crime groups refer to the organizational duration of a group and their aim to generate profits from criminal activity (von Lampe 2010). Given these definitions, the industrial scale of most intellectual property crimes, and the transnational delivery chain of the products, there is no doubt that transnational organized crime groups are involved in this business. A number of infamous organized crime groups are reported to be active in the business of counterfeiting and piracy, such as the Chinese Triads, the Japanese Yakuza, the Russian Mafia, and the Neapolitan Camorra (UNICRI 2007: 118). Intellectual property crimes are appealing to these organizations, because the profits are similar to those of drug trafficking, sometimes even higher, but the risk is very low, as penalties are less severe and law enforcement agencies focus less on these crimes (UNICRI 2007: 106). The same reasons that make intellectual property crimes appealing to organized crime groups also make it an attractive criminal activity for the funding of militant political groups. For example, proceeds of intellectual property crimes in the tri-border area of Argentina, Brazil, and Paraguay have been reported to go to the Lebanese Hizballah (Arena 2006: 459). Also the Irish Republican Army (IRA) has reportedly funded their activities with the trade in pirated movies and software (Treverton 2009: 82).

When it comes to international law enforcement cooperation against IP crimes, it is important that the specific activities need to be considered illegal in all states that wish to cooperate. The international harmonization of laws against IP infringements started in the late 19th century with the 1883 Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property and the 1886 Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic Works. In 1967 the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) was created as a specialized UN agency to oversee these and a number of other intellectual property rights treaties. A very important development was the 1994 Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) that established a minimum standard for IP rights in the member states of the World Trade Organization (WTO). Within this minimum standard is the requirement to criminalize trademark and copyright infringements of a commercial scale (TRIPS Art. 61). This criminalization requirement makes the TRIPS agreement the first global IP treaty that goes beyond private law and emphasizes the public interest through the use of criminal law. Therefore, TRIPS is not only a trade agreement, it is also the foundation of a prohibition regime (Andreas and Nadelmann 2006: 54).

International negotiations about IP rights continued after the TRIPS Agreement. Examples are the 2001 Doha Declaration on Public Health, several bilateral and regional agreements, and the recent negotiations about an Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement (ACTA). Debated issues include the balance between private IP rights and the public interest, especially when it comes to patents on pharmaceuticals and life forms (Sell

2003: 139), fair use provisions for digital products (Mara 2008b), the liability of the internet industry for the exchange of digital products over the internet and the trade of tangible goods through internet trading platforms (Amazon.com et al. 2008), transshipment in cases where the IPR protection differs in the countries of origin, destination, and transshipment (New 2009a), and higher penalties for IP crimes (UNICRI 2007: 129). While these debates continue, the largest obstacle to IP protection today is not the law but a lack of law enforcement (OECD 2008: 187). IP crime is not a high priority for most law enforcement agencies around the world. As resources for specialized training or even specialized units are limited, most law enforcement agencies prioritize crimes that are considered more severe, such as drug trafficking, human trafficking, and terrorism.

## WHAT ARE PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS?

It is important to clarify what is meant by the term "public-private partnership" (PPP). Unfortunately, there is no single authoritative definition of PPPs. Various authors use the term with different meanings (Weihe 2008,Klijn 2010, Hodge et al. 2010). For the purpose of this study, I propose the following definition and typology of PPPs: Public-private partnerships are forms of cooperation between actors from the public and the private sector<sup>3</sup> that are set-up with the intention to continuously exist over a longer period of time<sup>4</sup> and that are organized according to the characteristics of one of the following types<sup>5</sup> of PPPs:

- Collaborative PPP: Collaborative provision of public services, or significant contribution thereto, where the private partners voluntarily invest significant resources beyond advice without being paid by the public partners.
- Contractual PPP: Private provision of public services, or significant contribution thereto beyond advice, based on a contract with public partners that ensures payments to the private partners in return for their investment.
- Advisory PPP: Public partners rely on non-paid advice from private partners for public policy decisions.

Public sector refers to governments, government agencies and public international organizations, and private sector refers to for-profit and not-for-profit non-governmental organizations.

What a "longer period of time" is may depend on the issue area, but single occurrences of cooperation are not considered as partnership.

This typology is partly based on a literature review by Guðrið Weihe (2008), who identifies four areas of literature with distinct PPP approaches and argues that an overall PPP definition is not possible.

- Consulting PPP: Public partners rely on paid consulting from private partners for public policy decisions.
- ➤ PPP Network: A network of PPPs that differ from each other through non-identical membership or different forms of organization, but that belong to each other by having the same management or by being a sub-group of a larger PPP or network.

Table 1: A Resource-Based Typology of Public-Private Partnerships

		Contract ensures payment of private partners for their invested resources		
		No	Yes	
Kind of resources contributed by private partners	Beyond advice	Collaborative PPP	Contractual PPP	
	Advice only	Advisory PPP	Consulting PPP	

Source: Own account

While various forms of public-private cooperation have existed as long as the distinction between public and private has been used (Wettenhall 2010), the term public-private partnership was first established in the 1970s for business-community partnerships with the purpose of urban regeneration and development (Weihe 2008: 431). A prominent example is the New York City Partnership that started in the 1970s and organized different projects to deal with issues such as youth unemployment, education, transportation, housing, or crime and public safety – all with the aim "to make New York City a better place to live, to work and to conduct business" (NYT 1985). The private participants are often the driving force behind these partnerships and their voluntary contributions are often the main sources of funding for them (Weihe 2008: 431). I propose to describe these partnerships as collaborative PPPs, as their defining characteristic is the collaborative provision of public services.

In contrast, the contractual PPP resembles a buyer-seller relationship. This type of PPP is mostly used for infrastructure projects with a special type of participation by the private sector that involves private financing. It is a special type of procurement where the public partner does not pay the price of a project to the private partner at once, but instead enters a long-term contract, for example leasing a prison, or allowing the private partner to charge fees for a public service, as in the example of toll roads. Weihe (2008) uses the term "infrastructure approach" and Hodge et al. (2010) use the term "long-term infrastructure contract (LTIC)" to describe such partnerships. However, the term contractual PPP can be used for any outsourcing of public services to private partners, where the contract ensures payments to the private partners, either by the public partner or/and by the users of the public services provided. PPPs that charge a member fee, not

for profit but only as a means to pool resources, should be considered as collaborative, not contractual. Collaborative PPPs can also have a contract, but it does not reflect a buyer-seller relationship. What keeps collaborative PPPs together is not the monetary incentive from the partnership contract itself, but an interest in the public services provided or supported by the partnership. This interest can be self-seeking or altruistic.

Advisory PPPs and consulting PPPs are forms of public-private cooperation where public partners rely on non-paid advice or paid consulting from private partners for their public policy decisions. The advice may be based on research that required the investment of monetary resources by the private partners, but the resource that is transferred to the public partner is advice or consulting only. While the term public-private partnership is well established for collaborative and contractual PPPs, advisory and consulting PPPs are not always described as a PPP and it may be disputed whether it makes sense to describe such continuous consultation as a partnership. However, such relationships are described as PPPs by several authors, such as Börzel and Risse (2005: 199) in their co-optation PPP or Linder and Rosenau (2000: 5) in their definition of PPPs. For the purpose of this study it is useful to keep track of such PPPs, because they may evolve into other types of PPPs or vice versa.

A PPP network is a type of partnership that is not an exclusionary type besides the previous four types. It rather describes a network of several PPPs that differ from each other through non-identical membership or different forms of organization, but that belong to each other by having the same management or by being a sub-group of a larger PPP or network. Examples of this type of partnership are the Global Alliance for Improved Nutrition (GAIN 2010) and the Public-Private Partnership for the Urban Environment of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP 2009, Weihe 2008). This type of PPP often functions as a platform for further partnerships that can be set-up as sub-groups or projects. Often an international organization acts as a facilitator, while PPPs within the network provide a public service in a specific region or in a specific issue area. This is also consistent with the concept of IOs as orchestrators (Abbott et al. 2010). A PPP network may consist of collaborative, contractual, advisory, and/or consulting PPPs. An accurate description of a PPP network therefore makes it necessary to describe the type of each PPP in the network.

This typology of PPPs provides a useful framework for the description of the partnership activities of Interpol, WCO and WHO in the following three sections of this paper. It is helpful to show the differences and similarities of the PPPs and how they change over time. Interpol started with an advisory PPP that evolved into a PPP network consisting of an advisory PPP and several collaborative PPPs. WCO had a collaborative PPP for several years, which was then aborted and replaced with a network of one advisory and several collaborative PPPs. During a second PPP reform at WCO, the advisory

PPP within the network was replaced with a new one, while the collaborative PPPs continued their work. WHO has started directly with a PPP network, consisting of several collaborative PPPs, and is currently struggling with the decision to reform this PPP.

## INTERPOL AND THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CRIME ACTION GROUP

The International Criminal Police Organization (Interpol) has a history of understanding itself as a non-political organization. From its beginnings it was intended to facilitate police cooperation even between states that have difficult political relations. Therefore regular diplomatic channels were avoided as far as possible. It was founded in 1923 as a nongovernmental organization similar to an international professional association of chiefs of police (Anderson 1989: 39). When it was re-established after World War II, it filed a request to the United Nations Economic and Social Council for recognition as a nongovernmental organization in 1947. This request was granted, but in 1971 the UN re-classified it as an intergovernmental organization (Anderson 1989: 69). Keohane and Nye explicitly mentioned Interpol as an example of what they call transgovernmental: interactions between "sub-units of governments on those occasions when they act relatively autonomously from higher political authority in international politics" (Keohane and Nye 1974: 41). The degree to which Interpol is a transgovernmental and nonpolitical organization has decreased until today, especially since Interpol also deals with the very political crime of terrorism (Barnett and Coleman 2005: 611), but compared to other international organizations it is still very transgovernmental. When talking to Interpol employees, they mention quite frequently that they deal with non-political, technical matters (Reuland 2009, Newton 2009b, Plançon 2010).

In 2009 Interpol had 188 member states, a staff of 645 and an annual budget of 59 million Euro, of which more than 90% is contributed by the member states (Interpol 2010b). Interpol provides a wide variety of services to its member states in order to improve international police cooperation. Interpol facilitates personal contacts between law enforcement officers through a system of liaison officers and seconded officers. It maintains a global police communication system and several police databases, for example for the exchange of information about fugitives, stolen motor vehicles, stolen works of art, and lost and stolen travel documents. Interpol also analyzes the gathered information and provides information about transnational crime developments. Last but not least, Interpol offers assistance to member states with police capacity building measures and operational support through the 24/7Command and Co-ordination Centre or through Interpol support teams who are sent on request to member states (Interpol 2010b). While some of this support infrastructure exists without being dedicated to a specific crime area, Interpol also focuses on a number of specific crimes, such as drugs, human trafficking, and intellectual property crime.

Interpol's concern about intellectual property crimes started in the late 1970s. After representatives from the film and music industry approached Interpol, the 1977 Interpol General Assembly passed a resolution encouraging member states to do more to combat piracy of movies and music (Sandhu 1999: 99). The issue resurfaced in 1994, the year when the TRIPS Agreement was passed. Interpol invited a public-private working party on the issue, which met with participants from companies, associations and law enforcement agencies from Europe and the United States. As a result of this meeting, the Interpol General Assembly passed another resolution in 1994, again asking member states to cooperate more closely on the issue (Sandhu 1999: 100). However, Interpol did not have any full-time staff working on the issue of IP crime until 2001. The General Secretariat acquired a mandate from the Interpol General Assembly in 2000 to create an IP crime program that works together with the international business community to raise awareness of the issue and actively combat this form of crime (Interpol 2000). John Newton, a British police officer who managed the IP crime program since 2003, described the motivation of the General Secretariat to seek this mandate as a response to a demand from the business community (Newton 2009b). The first manager of the IP crime program was the Danish police officer Erik Madsen. He established the Interpol IP Crime Action Group (IIPCAG) in 2002. It was set up as an advisory PPP with the purpose to give input to the new Interpol program. The core supporters of the group came from the music industry, represented by the International Federation of the Phonographic Industries, the movie industry, represented by the Motion Picture Association, the pharmaceutical industry, represented by the Pharmaceutical Security Institute, and the tobacco industry (Newton 2009b).

The group became increasingly a network with many collaborative sub-PPPs for specific activities, such as crime fighting operations, training seminars, conferences, and a database to exchange information. The private sector participants not only gave advice but invested significant resources into specific activities. In a 2007 brochure, IIPCAG presented itself as a PPP with several members from the public and the private sector (Table 2). This published list shows an emphasis on the membership of business associations instead of individual companies; but while the associations are the official members, many participants come from member-companies of those associations (Hardy 2009). The advisory PPP had approximately two to three meetings a year and there were additional meetings in the collaborative PPPs. The growth of the PPP network was paralleled with growth of the Interpol IP crime program. The number of staff grew from 1 in 2005 to 6 in 2010. Its funding comes about 50% from the public members and 50% from the private members. It receives requests from the members of the PPPs and reports back to them (Newton 2011, Newton 2009b). So while the Interpol General Secretariat as a whole acts as an agent for the Interpol member states, the IP

crime program within it effectively also acts as an agent for the private and public members of the PPP network.

Table 2: Interpol IP Crime Action Group (IIPCAG)

Founded 2002

Permanent secretariat hosted by Interpol

Co-chairs: Interpol and International Federation of the Phonographic Industries (founding co-chair), Interpol and Underwriters Laboratories (since 2006)

Public Sector Members:

Interpol, WCO, WIPO, Europol; Belgian National Police, Department of Public Security (PR China), Federal Bureau of Investigation (USA), Finland National Board of Customs, French National Police, Irish National Police (Garda Siochana), Italian National Police, Mexican Institute of Industrial Property, Mexican National Police, Police Service of Northern Ireland (UK), Public Prosecutor for Serious Economic Crime (Denmark), Royal Canadian Mounted Police, Spanish National Police (Guardia Civil and Policía Nacional), United Kingdom Intellectual Property Office

#### Private Sector Members:

Coalition for Intellectual Property Rights (CIPR), Global Anti-Counterfeiting Group (GACG), International Chamber of Commerce Business Action to Stop Counterfeiting and Piracy (ICC BASCAP)\*, International Federation of the Phonographic Industry (IFPI), International Trademark Association (INTA), Motion Picture Association (MPA), Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA), Pharmaceutical Security Institute (PSI), Union des Fabricants (Unifab), United States Chamber of Commerce Coalition Against Counterfeiting and Piracy (USCC CACP); Microsoft Corporation, Procter & Gamble, Underwriters Laboratories

Source: Own account based on IIPCAG 2007, Monks 2010, Grant 2011

\*) In January 2007 BASCAP merged with the Global Business Leaders Alliance Against Counterfeiting (GBLAAC). Until then GBLAAC was an independent member of IIPCAG (Dobson 2010).

One example of a regional collaborative PPP in the Interpol PPP network is operation Jupiter. It started in 2004 as a partnership between representatives from the pharmaceutical, recording, motion picture and tobacco industry, together with law enforcement agencies from Argentina, Brazil and Paraguay, in order to address IP crime in the triborder area between these countries. Since then, the operation has been conducted almost annually and has included more industry sectors and more countries. Operation Jupiter V in 2009 and 2010 saw the participation of 13 countries and collaboration with the WCO (Interpol 2011a). Each year the operation consists of training seminars and subsequent raids in different locations of the participating countries. In these seminars the law enforcement officers learn about the method of operation of IP criminals and how to distinguish counterfeits from original products. As a result of the Jupiter operations about 1,700 people have been arrested and several tons of counterfeit and pirated products have been seized, including CDs, DVDs, toys, cigarettes, watches, clothes, medicine, agrochemicals, and processed food (Interpol 2011a, Interpol 2011b).

An example of a global collaborative PPP in the Interpol PPP network is the Interpol Database on International Intellectual Property (DIIP). This PPP started in 2006 with the purpose to gather information from public law enforcement agencies and from the

affected industries in order to provide Interpol with a global cross-industry picture of IP crime so that the organization can facilitate the fight against IP crime more effectively (Newton 2009b). The creation of the database was supported with 750,000 USD seed funding from the US Chamber of Commerce and additional 250,000 USD funding from the US Patent and Trademark Office (Huther 2010). Until 2009 the database contained information about products from 20 industry sectors (Newton 2009a). However, most of this information is related to Interpol-led operations like Jupiter. Support from the industry for this database was not as big as hoped. Many companies are afraid to jeopardize their investigations if they share their information with Interpol, or they do not see how they could benefit from the information sharing, as they have no access to Interpol data (Huther 2010, Dobson 2010, Newton 2009b).

Another example of a collaborative PPP in the Interpol PPP network is the Interpol IP Crime Investigators College. The main partners are Interpol and Underwriters Laboratories (UL). Interpol and UL have been organizing annual IP crime conferences since 2007. In order to have a more permanent and global resource of knowledge about IP Crimes, they created an online learning platform called Interpol IP Crime Investigators College. The website www.iipcic.org has been online since the 2011 Global Congress on Combating Counterfeiting and Piracy in Paris. So far, this project is mainly financed by UL, but UL intends to charge fees for the inclusion of training modules from additional partners (Newton 2009b, Monks 2010). For example, the section about optical disc piracy has been contributed by the Motion Picture Association (Buchan 2010). However, it remains to be seen how successful this online college will be.

# THE WORLD CUSTOMS ORGANIZATION (WCO) AND THE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS STRATEGIC GROUP

The World Customs Organization was founded in 1952 as the Customs Co-operation Council and aims to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of customs administrations. WCO administers several customs conventions, such as the Convention on the Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System or the Convention on the Simplification and Harmonization of Customs Procedures (UIA 2010). Insofar as the conventions are concerned, the WCO is an intergovernmental organization. However, WCO also facilitates cooperation between customs agencies and supports customs capacity building. In this respect, WCO is also involved in transgovernmental activities. In 2010 the WCO had 177 member states, a staff of 106 and an annual budget of 14 million Euro (Vorreux 2010a).

An important development for the relationship between customs agencies and IP rights owners was the 1994 TRIPS Agreement and its subsequent implementation until 1996 (for industrialized countries), 2000 (for countries in transition and developing

countries), and 2013 (for least developed countries). The articles 51-60 of the TRIPS Agreement require the customs agencies of the WTO member states to cooperate with IP rights owners for the seizure of IP infringing goods. The usual basis for such border measures is an application for action from the rights owner. In addition, customs agencies may also seize suspected IP infringing goods ex-officio. However, in practice, such seizures without application are less common (EU Com 2009: 6). The application for action is a civil law measure that can also be used for non-criminal IP infringements. Criminal procedures usually involve specialized customs investigation units or the police (Zimmermann 2009).

Closer cooperation between WCO and the international business community started in 1991, when the G7 recommended that the WCO should strengthen cooperation between customs agencies and carriers against drug trafficking. The resulting customs trade partnership was gradually extended to include other border-related crimes, such as IP rights violations (Robinson 1999). WCO developed an IPR working group since 1997 that brings together participants from customs agencies and the business community. This group produced IP training material and organized training seminars for customs officers. It was fully funded by the private sector partners of this group (Robinson 1999, Brohm 2010). However, WCO did not have any full-time staff for its IPR program at that time and therefore it became increasingly difficult for its secretariat to keep up with the increasing administrative workload for IP related activities. To solve this problem, the WCO secretariat made an agreement with the anti-counterfeiting business association SNB-REACT, which took over most secretariat tasks for the newly founded WCO IPR Strategic Group in 2000 (Brohm 2010, Zimmermann 2009).

SNB-REACT was founded in 1991 in Amsterdam as Stichting Namaakbestrijding (SNB, Dutch for Anti-Counterfeiting Foundation) by the Dutch lawyer and former Chamber of Commerce Amsterdam employee Ronald Brohm. This organization has pooled resources from several IP rights owners to conduct joint operations against IP crime. Since 1995 SNB has expanded across borders and supplemented its name with the acronym REACT (Réseau Européen Anti-Contrefaçon, French for European Anti-Counterfeiting Network). SNB-REACT has opened offices in several European countries and is also collaborating with independent anti-counterfeiting business associations across Europe as part of the REACT-Network (Brohm 2010). The management of the WCO IPR Strategic Group has put SNB-REACT in a unique position to offer privileged access to WCO for its member-companies. SNB-REACT charged a membership fee of 2000 Euro, which included membership in the WCO IPR Strategic Group (WCO IPR SG 2001). However, membership was not mandatory to participate in meetings as a guest or to participate in specific projects, such as the many training seminars that were

organized by the WCO IPR Strategic Group (Brohm 2010). Until 2007 the group has grown to more than 40 private sector members (Table 3).

Table 3: World Customs Organization IP Rights Strategic Group

Founded 2000; Terminated: 2007

Permanent secretariat hosted by SNB-REACT (business association) in cooperation with WCO

Co-chairs: WCO and Société BIC (founding co-chair),

WCO and Procter & Gamble (2003-2007)

Successor Groups: IPR Business Partnership (private association) and WCO SECURE-Group (PPP)

#### Public Sector Members:

WCO and customs agencies of Angola, Australia, Bangladesh, Belgium, Bhutan, Cambodia, Canada, China (PR), Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Iran, Italy, Japan, Korea (RoK), Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Macedonia, Malaysia, Maldives, Malta, Mauritius, Mongolia, Montenegro, Myanmar, Netherlands, Nepal, New Zealand, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Singapore, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, UK, USA, and Vietnam

#### Private Sector Members:

International Bureau of Mechanical Rights Societies (BIEM), International Federation of the Phonographic Industry (IFPI), Imaging Consumables Coalition of Europe (ICCE), Motion Picture Association of America (MPAA), Pharmaceutical Security Institute (PSI), Swiss Watch Federation (FHS), SNB-REACT; Abercrombie & Fitch, adidas, BBC, BIC, British American Tobacco, CHANEL, Daimler(Chrysler), Dolby Laboratories, Eli Lilly & Company, Epson, GM, Harley-Davidson, Hermes, Imperial Tobacco, Intel, Japan Tobacco, La Chemise Lacoste, LVMH Fashion Group, L'Oréal, Microsoft, MSD Merck Shape & Dohme, New Era Cap Company, Nike, Nokia, Pfizer, Philip Morris, Philips, Procter & Gamble, Reebok, Rouse & Co International, Samsung Electronics, Sanofi Aventis, Sara Lee, Sony, Sony Ericsson, Spirits International, Timberland, Tommy Hilfiger, Underwriters Laboratories, Unilever, V.F.Corporation

Source: Own account based on WCO IPR SG 2007

The WCO IPR Strategic Group was organized as a collaborative PPP from the beginning, with about four meetings per year of the group and approximately eight training seminars around the world per year. The funding for training seminars came not only from the private sector but also from public sector organizations, such as the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), the US Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO), the US Agency for International Development (USAID), and the European Union (EU). Communication with the customs agencies was managed by the WCO secretariat, while SNB-REACT managed communication with the private sector and all remaining administrative work, including finances (Brohm 2010). However, the work of the Strategic Group was not limited to the organization of seminars. It also lobbied for legislation. Most importantly, the group drafted a model law on IP enforcement that goes beyond the minimum standards required by the TRIPS-Agreement. The law was presented since 2003 as a legislative proposal to the WCO member countries (WCO IPR SG 2004). This legislative lobbying has drawn some critical attention to the group. It was criticized for going beyond TRIPS minimum standards and for being too driven by the private sector (Zimmermann 2009, Hardy 2009). In 2006 the WCO secretariat

devoted more resources to its IP rights activities and employed the first full-time staff for this issue. The French customs officer Christophe Zimmermann has been the WCO Coordinator for the Fight Against Counterfeiting and Piracy since then and has terminated the outsourcing of secretariat functions. The last meeting of the Strategic Group took place in 2007. The divorce of this partnership resulted in two successor groups: the IPR business partnership, which is a purely private sector association hosted by SNB-REACT, and the SECURE Working Group (Standards to be Employed by Customs for Uniform Rights Enforcement), which was an advisory PPP of the WCO (Zimmermann 2009, Brohm 2010, Heath 2010, Blakemore 2010).

In spite of this divorce, the cooperation between WCO and the private sector has continued. What has evolved since 2007 could be described as a PPP network, with the SECURE Working Group as an advisory PPP and several collaborative PPPs around customs training seminars. The political controversy around the advisory PPP intensified, as the SECURE Working Group continued to draft legislative proposals, without having agreed on terms of reference that define the relationship between the public and private sector participants. The group has been criticized by WCO delegates from Argentina, Brazil, China, Cuba, Ecuador, and Uruguay (Mara 2008a). As a result, the 2009 WCO Council terminated this group and replaced it with the CAP (Counterfeiting and Piracy) Group exclusively for public sector members with a mandate that excludes any legislative proposals or standard setting and is limited to capacity building and exchange of best practices (Zimmermann 2009, New 2009b). However, the collaborative PPPs around training seminars continue their work in spite of the political controversies at the advisory PPP (Zimmermann 2009). Advisory cooperation is also continuing cautiously. The WCO secretariat invited private sector representatives as guests to the CAP group and it initiated a new Rights Holders Consultative Group as an advisory PPP. This group only met twice in 2010 and it remains to be seen how this new PPP will do its work (Vorreux 2010a).

Another very new collaborative public-private partnership in the PPP network of the WCO is a database called IPM (Interface Public-Members). This database is designed as an interface, where private IP rights holders can submit information for the identification of genuine and counterfeit goods to one central point of reference for all participating customs agencies around the world. This database is financed through subscription fees from the private rights holders that range between 2,800 EUR and 8,800 EUR annually, depending on the rights holders' sales revenue. Participation is free of charge for the customs agencies. The database can also serve as a communication platform for other IP related information, such as the dates of planned collaborative training seminars. Thereby this PPP could serve as the partnership that ties all other PPPs in the WCO network together, if it is successful (Vorreux 2010a, Vorreux 2010b).

# THE WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO) AND THE INTERNATIONAL MEDICAL PRODUCTS ANTI-COUNTERFEITING TASKFORCE (IMPACT)

The World Health Organization (WHO) was founded in 1946 and became a specialized organization in the United Nations (UN) system in 1948. It performs a wide variety of tasks related to public health: from proposing conventions with respect to international health matters, via developing international standards with respect to food, biological and pharmaceutical products, to technical assistance in emergencies and aid for developing countries. In 2009 the WHO had 193 member countries, a staff of 4,000 and a budget of 1,971 million USD (WHO 2010b, UIA 2010). It is difficult to classify the WHO as a whole. Some of its work is intergovernmental, some of its work is transgovernmental, and with many PPP projects, some of its work is also transnational. Up to 30% of the total WHO budget comes from the private sector, including foundations and NGOs<sup>6</sup> (WHO 2010b).

WHO's concern with counterfeit medicines began in the 1980s. It's governing board, the World Health Assembly (WHA), passed a resolution in 1988 mandating the WHO to "initiate programmes for the prevention and detection of export, import and smuggling of falsely labeled, spurious, counterfeited or substandard pharmaceutical preparations" (Kopp 2010a). One example of such a program is a 1996 project on counterfeit drugs, financed by the government of Japan, which resulted in a study of the issue and guidelines on how to address it (Kopp 2010b). Such programs involved cooperation with pharmaceutical manufacturers, but no permanent PPP had been set up until 2006. The idea to do so was born in one of the transgovernmental bodies of the WHO: the International Conference of Drug Regulatory Authorities (ICDRA). In 2004 the ICDRA suggested that WHO should draft an international convention on counterfeit medicines. However, in informal negotiations it became clear that no consensus could be reached on such a convention (Kopp 2010b). As an alternative, the International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce (IMPACT) was founded in 2006 to pursue other ways to combat counterfeit medical products. This taskforce was designed from the beginning as a PPP network consisting of several collaborative PPPs with one steering PPP at the top. Its terms of reference clearly state that decisions should be made through a consensus-based approach, giving equal rights to members from the public and the private sector (WHO IMPACT 2009). The membership of IMPACT is comprised of public international organizations and government agencies from WHO member countries and of private sector associations. Five working groups have been established, as

The official WHO financial report shows private sector, NGOs, and foundations as separate categories of contributors. However, in line with the use of the term private sector in this study (for-profit and not-for-profit non-governmental organizations), most of these entities would be considered private sector.

sub-PPPs within the network (Table 4). While no individual companies are members of IMPACT, the member associations send individual experts from member-companies to the working groups. Therefore employees of many major research based pharmaceutical companies have been present at many IMPACT meetings (Int.17 2010, Int.08 2010).

IMPACT had a regular budget of 2.6 million USD during the period from 2006 to 2009, of which 28% came from the WHO and 68% came from voluntary contributions from the European Commission, Australia, Germany, Italy and the Netherlands (WHO 2010a). The funding from the private sector was rather limited compared to the PPPs at Interpol and WCO. The International Federation of Pharmaceutical and Manufacturers' Associations (IFPMA) supported IMPACT with 100,000 CHF (Int.17 2010). Additional contributions have been made directly to support meetings and specific activities. An example for this is the enforcement working group which has its own budget managed by Interpol. WHO and Interpol had already collaborated before IMPACT, for example in a 2005-2006 investigation of counterfeit malaria medicine in South East Asia (Newton et al. 2008). This collaboration has intensified since early 2008, when the French police officer Aline Plançon was sent from Interpol to WHO to manage the enforcement activities of IMPACT from the WHO secretariat. She organized training seminars and enforcement operations in several collaborative PPPs (Plançon 2010).

Table 4: WHO International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce (IMPACT)

Founded 2006

Chair: World Health Organization (WHO)

Vice-Chairs: National Agency for Food and Drug Administration and Control

NAFDAC(Nigeria) and Health Sciences Authority (Singapore)

Permanent secretariat hosted by World Health Organization (WHO)2006-2010

Interim secretariat hosted by Agenzia Italiana del Farmaco (AIFA) since August 2010

Public Sector Members:

WHO, Interpol, WCO, WIPO, WTO, OECD, World Bank, European Commission, Council of Europe, Commonwealth, ASEAN, Permanent Forum on International Pharmaceutical Crime

# Private Sector Members:

International Federation of Pharmaceutical and Manufacturers' Associations (IFPMA), International Generic Pharmaceuticals Alliance, World Self-medication Industry, Asociacion Latino Americana de Industrias Farmaceuticas, International Federation of Pharmaceutical Wholesalers, European Association of Pharmaceutical Full-line Wholesalers, International Pharmaceutical Federation, International Council of Nurses, World Medical Association, Pharmaciens sans frontiers, International Alliance of Patients Organizations, Partnership for Safe Medicines, Pharmaceutical Security Institute (PSI)

Working Groups (sub-PPPs):

- Legislative and Regulatory Infrastructure (Chaired by Federal Ministry of Health, Germany)
- Regulatory Implementation (Chaired by Food and Drug Administration FDA, USA)
- Enforcement (Chaired by Interpol and Therapeutic Goods Administration, Australia)
- Technology (Chaired by International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associations)
- Communication (Chaired by International Pharmaceutical Federation)

Source: Own account based on AIFA 2011, WHO IMPACT 2008b, WHO IMPACT 2008d

One example of such a collaborative sub-PPP within the enforcement group of IMPACT is operation Mamba. It started in 2008 as an operation in Tanzania and Uganda, where police, customs, and drug regulatory agencies have collaborated with the private sector against medicine counterfeiters. Kenya participates in Mamba since 2009 and Burundi and Rwanda joined in 2010. During operation Mamba III in 2010 about 10 tons of counterfeit and illicit medical products have been seized and more than 80 suspects have been arrested (Interpol 2010a, Interpol 2009). While operation Mamba took place under the umbrella of WHO IMPACT, it was mainly coordinated by Interpol and financed through the Interpol OASIS (Operational Assistance, Services and Infrastructure Support) program. And OASIS is funded with an annual budget of 4 million EUR by the German government to support law enforcement capacity building throughout Africa (Plançon 2010, Interpol 2010c, AA 2010).

As IMPACT has a public health focus rather than an IP focus, these PPPs are more driven by the public sector than the PPPs at Interpol or WCO (Plançon 2010). The main actors in IMPACT enforcement PPPs are police, customs, and drug regulatory agencies, supported by member companies of the Pharmaceutical Security Institute (PSI). PSI is an association of research-based pharmaceutical companies that focuses on anticounterfeiting. It was first created in 1992 as an informal network, and then became more formal in 1997 when 12 member companies formed a consortium and set up a permanent office in Italy. In 2002 the PSI office moved to the Washington D.C. area, where PSI was incorporated and from where it has operated since. Today PSI has 25 member companies and an annual budget of nearly 1 million USD. It became the primary private sector partner of Interpol in the fight against counterfeit medicines and has also supported Interpol financially (Kubic 2010).

Interpol's role within WHO IMPACT has significantly increased over the years, while the role of WHO itself has declined. IMPACT started as a WHO led partnership in 2006 and the full-time executive secretary was the WHO employee Valerio Reggi. In 2008 the Interpol employee Aline Plançon was sent to the WHO headquarters to support IMPACT full-time for all matters related to Interpol. Since 2009, WHO does not dedicate any full-time staff to IMPACT. The new executive secretary was Sabine Kopp, who managed IMPACT ad interim besides other responsibilities (Kopp 2010b). In August 2010, the secretariat was transferred temporarily to the Italian drug regulatory agency Agenzia Italiana del Farmaco (AIFA 2011). This reduction of WHO resources in IMPACT is also the result of the political controversies around this PPP (Plançon 2010). While IMPACT was immediately welcomed by the transgovernmental ICDRA in 2006, and was also endorsed by the Interpol General Assembly in 2008, no such explicit endorsement has been achieved from the World Health Assembly (WHA). The basis for IMPACT from the WHA are rather general resolutions requesting actions

against counterfeit medicine (WHO 2010a). An attempt to get a more explicit endorsement was made at the WHA in 2008. A resolution from Nigeria received support from several African, European, East Asian and North American countries, but was blocked due to opposition from several Latin American, South Asian and South East Asian countries. When no consensus could be reached, the WHO Executive Board was asked to solve the issue (Reggi 2008).

However, the issue has not been solved and erupted in a heated debate at the WHA in May 2010. The delegates from Brazil and India claimed that "WHO's work against counterfeit and substandard medicines is being influenced by brand-name drug producers with an interest in undermining legitimate generic competition" (Mara 2010). At the intergovernmental level, delegates from Brazil suggested that WHO should seek a "divorce" from this partnership, while at the transgovernmental level, the Brazilian drug regulatory agency ANVISA (Agência Nacional de Vigilância Sanitária) supports IMPACT with their active participation (WHO IMPACT 2008c, Int.17 2010). However, the WHA decided to set up an intergovernmental working group without private sector participants to determine WHO's relationship with IMPACT. A decision is not yet in sight, but one option on the table is that Interpol could take over the leadership of IMPACT from WHO, because Interpol is more supportive of IMPACT than WHO and the issue is less controversial there (Kopp 2010b, Plançon 2010, Int.17 2010).

# FINDINGS FROM A COMPARISON OF PPPS AGAINST IP CRIME

The three international organizations and their PPP activities examined in this paper show some similarities, but also some differences in their development over time. None of the PPPs is of a contractual or consulting type. All the private sector partners were sufficiently interested in the subject of the PPP to participate without being paid by the public partners for their participation. The dominant type of PPP is that of a PPP network consisting of collaborative and advisory PPPs. Interpol started with an advisory PPP, which then evolved over time into a PPP network. WCO started with a collaborative PPP, which was replaced in a reform by a PPP network. And the WHO has chosen the PPP network type from the beginning (figure 2).

The voluntary nature of all PPPs, and the requirement to invest significant resources for a collaborative PPP, seems to make continuing global collaborative PPPs with a large number of partners less likely. Instead, many smaller collaborative PPPs are formed with those partners who are willing to support a specific activity. And a larger PPP network serves as a source of partners for collaboration in smaller groups.

**WCO** Collaborative PPP PPP Network (consisting of collaborative and advisory PPPs) Advisory Interpol PPP Year 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Fig. 2: Paths of different PPPs against IP Crime

Source: own illustration

The least contentious and most durable PPP is Interpol's. It started with the Interpol IP Crime Action Group as an advisory PPP in 2002 and gradually evolved into a PPP network consisting of an advisory PPP and several collaborative PPPs. The transition phase went from about 2004, when the first Operation Jupiter was started, to about 2007, when the collaborative PPPs with Underwriters Laboratories and the US Chamber of Commerce showed effects on the Interpol IP crime program. Interpol avoided political controversies as much as possible by focusing on law enforcement as opposed to law making.

The World Customs Organization's IP Rights Strategic Group was set up as a collaborative PPP from its founding in 2000. The role of the private sector in this PPP was astonishingly high, as major secretariat functions were outsourced to the private sector. However, the strong role of the private sector in combination with legislative proposals coming from the group has led to controversies. WCO decided to devote more resources in-house to the issue of IP rights and stop the outsourcing, thereby also terminating the PPP. SECURE was set up as a new advisory PPP, while continuing collaboration in sub-PPPs, thereby creating a PPP network. However, the continuous drafting of legislative proposals led to increased controversy over the advisory PPP and resulted in another termination only two years later. The secretariat continued the collaborative sub-PPPs and set up the Rights Holder Consultative Group as a new advisory PPP.

The World Health Organization's International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce (IMPACT) was set up as a PPP network with several collaborative sub-PPPs from the beginning. These sub-PPPs are not only about enforcement, but also, for example, about legislative guidelines. While the secretariat of this PPP was

initially hosted by the WHO, Interpol has evolved as an increasingly strong player, which is currently investing more resources in IMPACT than WHO. Due to controversies over IMPACT, a reform, a termination, or a change of leadership of this PPP appears to be imminent.

When analyzing the development of these PPPs over time and comparing them with each other, five major factors seem to influence their formation, maintenance, termination, and reform:

# 1) Common ground

Global partnerships involve participants from very diverse countries. As a basis for cooperation they need at least some common ground. For the case of enforcement of intellectual property, this common ground is the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS). While the public international organizations analyzed here were engaged in some public-private cooperation before the TRIPS agreement was reached, the PPPs against IP crime were all formed after it. The TRIPS agreement serves as a foundation for the PPPs in three ways: First, it provides the first international minimum standard for the protection of IP rights. Second, TRIPS requires at least some public-private cooperation, through its requirement for customs agencies to cooperate with rights holders. And third, the criminalization of IP infringements of a commercial scale demands activities from public law enforcement agencies.

# 2) Absolute and/or relative gains of resources

If public-private cooperation is necessary, then participation in PPPs, as a special kind of cooperation, is a way to institutionalize this cooperation with the intention to reduce transaction costs. And a reduction of transaction costs means an absolute gain of resources. As IP crimes are mostly transnational, global PPPs are especially attractive, because they allow institutionalized cooperation with a large number of relevant actors around the globe, thereby possibly increasing absolute gains even more.

Besides the reduction of transaction costs, there are further resources to be gained in a PPP. The many training seminars and conferences and also the exchange of information through databases are examples of how information is being transferred. Human resources were relevant for the decision of the WCO to enter a special partnership with SNB-REACT. And when the human resources were available in-house, this outsourcing through a PPP was terminated. Financial contributions can also be seen in all collaborative PPPs and are a factor that increases the attractiveness of PPPs for those actors who receive the funds. The most important resources invested by the private sector partners are information, human resources, and money. The public international organizations contribute the coordinating functions of a secretariat of the PPP, as well as their reputa-

tion, their credibility, and their access to government agencies around the world, which bring their legitimacy in their jurisdictions to the partnership.

While the absolute gains of resources are important, also the relative gains, compared to competitors, need to be considered. Companies protect their IP to advance their competitiveness. Cooperating with competitors in PPPs is sometimes difficult for them and limits the amount of information they are willing to share. Also business associations can improve their competitiveness through PPPs. This was most obvious in the example of SNB-REACT, which established a unique partnership with the WCO. Also other associations can offer additional benefits to their members by participating in PPPs. Competition can also be observed between public agencies. The relationship between police and customs is not always easy, especially if both sides want to claim the success of arresting dangerous criminals. Finally, competition can also exist between international organizations. One example is the way in which Interpol increasingly appears as a strong figure in IMPACT, though the leadership rested with WHO at the beginning.

Actors who participate in several PPPs may also influence this competition by shifting resources from one PPP to another, or by threatening to do so. Such strategies can also be described as forum-shopping or regime-shifting (Helfer 2009, Sell 2009). The overall finding that concerns with absolute and relative gains matter for PPPs, a special form of cooperation, is consistent with general cooperation theory (Taylor 1987) and is also a finding from studies about PPPs in other issue areas (Schäferhoff et al. 2009, Andonova 2006)

# 3) Management of the PPP and its discretion

The international organization that manages a PPP by performing functions of a secretariat needs either a mandate from its member states or some discretion to do so. Once the PPP is established, it may increase the discretion for the international organization, since resources for specific activities can be acquired from partners without the need to seek approval for budget increases from the member states. This was observable in the cases of Interpol and WCO and is also consistent with principal-agent theory (Hawkins and Jacoby 2006: 208).

### 4) Representation of stakeholders

Several stakeholders have an interest in IP policy. If they are not adequately represented, they may choose to oppose the PPP from the outside. However, it matters not only if they are represented, but also how. For example, states are not always uniform actors as assumed in realist IR theory. Different agencies in one state can have very different views on the same issue. While delegates from Argentina and Brazil opposed the PPP at the WCO, other delegates from the same countries did not oppose the PPP at Interpol, and Argentinian and Brazilian government agencies actively participate in the

Interpol led operation Jupiter. Within the WHO it becomes even more complicated: while the Brazilian drug regulatory agency ANVISA supports the IMPACT PPP, the Brazilian mission at the WHO headquarters in Geneva opposes it. This conflict can also be seen at the aggregate level: While the transgovernmental ICDRA expressed their support for the IMPACT PPP, the more intergovernmental WHA could not agree on an endorsement and is even considering termination.

# 5) PPP policy

Finally, different policies can lead to more or less political controversy. While all PPPs examined want to do something against IP crime, they have chosen different policies in pursuit of this aim. Legislative proposals and standard setting has led to controversies at the WCO, while policy making through the allocation of resources to training seminars is less controversial. In particular, the acquisition of voluntary funding seems to avoid discussion about the distribution of resources. Interpol has presented itself as an expert in avoiding political controversies. It stayed away from any drafting of legislative proposals or setting of standards. Interpol claims to be purely technical and non-political, but its activities have an effect on IP protection through allocation of resources to IP crime fighting.

# **CONCLUSION**

Transgovernmental and transnational law enforcement cooperation culminates in the global public-private partnerships against intellectual property crimes analyzed in this paper. Five key factors can be identified that influence the formation, maintenance, termination, and reform of such PPPs: (1) common ground, (2) absolute and/or relative gains of resources, (3) the management of the PPP and its discretion, (4) the representation of stakeholders, and (5) the policy pursued by the PPP.

This study has been conducted in a very explorative way due to the lack of previous research in this area. Therefore the findings of this study are first and foremost applicable to the cases of Interpol, WCO and WHO presented in this paper and to the cases of WIPO, WTO and the Global Congress on Combating Counterfeiting and Piracy, which have also been covered by the overall research project this paper is based on. Nonetheless, the findings are also relevant for several broader issue areas:

Research about international crime policies and international law enforcement cooperation can benefit from studies about transnational cooperation. It would be useful to see if the findings of this study are also true for PPPs in other crime areas. Examples are partnerships with insurance companies against the theft of insured objects, partnerships with credit card companies against credit card fraud, or partnerships with internet service providers against cyber-crime.

As research about PPPs in general has failed to come up with a commonly agreed definition or typology of PPPs, the definition and typology provided for this paper is also a contribution to this debate. Also the factors relevant for partnerships observed here could be relevant for PPPs in other issue areas. However, none of the partnerships analyzed for this study falls into the categories of contractual or consulting PPPs. Therefore the findings are probably least applicable to such PPPs, where the monetary incentive could serve as a substitute for other factors.

Finally, research about the global intellectual property regime is mostly focused on intergovernmental agreements about new legislation. However, according to the OECD (2008: 187) the largest obstacle to IP protection is not the law but a lack of law enforcement. Therefore, the PPPs that focus on the enforcement of existing laws, rather than negotiating new ones, could be a lot more relevant than the highly controversial and much-discussed negotiations about an Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement (ACTA).

### REFERENCES

- AA (2010) Written reply to a question sent to the German Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Auswärtiges Amt, 15 Nov 2010
- ABBOTT, K., GENSCHEL, P., SNIDAL, D. & ZANGL, B. (2010) IOs as Orchestrators. *SGIR 7th Pan-European International Relations Conference*. Stockholm, http://stockholm.sgir.eu/uploads/SGIR%20 Stockholm%20100901.pdf
- ABRAHAMSEN, R. & WILLIAMS, M. C. (2009) Security Beyond the State: Global Security Assemblages in International Politics. In *International Political Sociology*, 3, 1-17
- AIFA (2011) IMPACT International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce Facts|Activities|Documents developed by the Assembly and the Working Groups of IMPACT 2006-2010, Agenzia Italiana del Farmaco (AIFA), www.agenziafarmaco.gov.it/sites/default/files/final handbook for the web.pdf
- AKUNYILI, D. (2007) *Counterfeit Medicines: A Serious Crime Against Humanity*, Presentation to the European Parliament by Professor Dora Akunyili, Director General of the National Agency for Food and Drug Administration and Control, Nigiria, 10 Apr 2007, www.europarl.europa.eu/comparl/deve/hearings/20070410/akunyili1.pdf
- AMAZON.COM, AT&T, COMPUTER & COMMUNICATIONS INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION, CONSUMER ELECTRONICS ASSOCIATION, EBAY INC., INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA, INTERNET COMMERCE COALITION, NETCOALITION, U.S. INTERNET SERVICE PROVIDER ASSOCIATION, USTELECOM ASSOCIATION, VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS & YAHOO! INC. (2008) Letter to the United States Trade Representative Re: Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement, IP Justice, www.ipjustice.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/ACTA-ltr-US-Tech-Co-aug-7-2008.pdf

- AMERASINGHE, C. F. (2005) *Principles of the Institutional Law of International Organizations*, Cambridge; New York, Cambridge University Press
- ANDERSON, M. (1989) Policing the World: Interpol and the Politics of International Police Cooperation, Oxford, New York, Oxford University Press
- ANDONOVA, L. B. (2006) Globalization, Agency, and Institutional Innovation: The Rise of Public-Private Partnerships in Global Governance. In *Goldfarb Center Working Paper*, March 2006, http://coda.colby.edu//getblob?blobid=1015682268093349
- ANDREAS, P. & NADELMANN, E. (2006) Policing the Globe. Criminalization and Crime Control in International Relations, Oxford University Press
- ARCHER, C. (2001) International Organizations, London; New York, Routledge
- ARENA, M. P. (2006) Hizballah's Global Criminal Operations. In Global Crime, Vol 7, 454-486
- BARNETT, M. & COLEMAN, L. (2005) Designing Police: Interpol and the Study of Change in International Organizations. In *International Studies Quarterly*, 49 No. 4, 593-620
- BLAKEMORE, D. (2010) Interview with David Blakemore, Executive Director of the IPR Business Partnership Asia Pacific Secretariat, former Head of Communications at the World Customs Organization (WCO), Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- BÖRZEL, T. A. & RISSE, T. (2005) Public-Private Partnerships: Effective and Legitimate Tools of Transnational Governance? In GRANDE, E. & PAULY, L. W. (Eds.) *Complex Sovereignty: Reconstituting Political Authority in the Twenty-first Century.* Toronto; Buffalo, University of Toronto Press
- BROGDEN, M. & NIJHAR, P. (2005) Community Policing. National and International Models and Approaches, Willan Publishing
- BROHM, R. (2010) Interview with Ronald Brohm, Director of SNB-REACT (Stichting Namaakbestrijding - Réseau Européen Anti-Contrefaçon), Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- BUCHAN, M. (2010) Interview with Michael Buchan, Director of Content Protection & Customs Liaison at Motion Picture Association, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- DOBSON, W. (2010) Interview with William (Bill) Dobson, Senior Policy Advisor for the Business Action to Stop Counterfeiting and Piracy (BASCAP) at the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC), member of the Business and Industry Advisory Committee (BIAC) to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), former Executive Director of the Global Business Leaders Alliance Against Counterfeiting (GBLAAC), former Vice President at Procter & Gamble, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- EU COM (2009) Report on EU Customs Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights. Results at the European Border -2008, European Commission Directorate General Taxation and Customs Union, http://ec.europa.eu/taxation\_customs/resources/documents/customs/customs\_controls/counterfeit\_pira cy/statistics/2009\_statistics\_for\_2008\_full\_report\_en.pdf
- GAIN (2010) *Annual Report 2009-2010*, Global Alliance for Improved Nutrition, www.gainhealth.org/sites/default/files/ANNUAL REPORT 2010 small.pdf

- GAO (2010) Intellectual Property: Observations on Efforts to Quantify the Economic Effects of Counterfeit and Pirated Goods, United States Government Accountability Office, www.gao.gov/products/GAO-10-423
- GRANT, I. (2011) *Biography of Iain Grant*, FTI-International Risk, accessed 23 May 2011, www.intl-risk.com/print/iain-grant.htm
- HARDY, J. (2009) Interview with Jeffrey Hardy, BASCAP Coordinator (Business Action to Stop Counterfeiting and Piracy) at the ICC (International Chamber of Commerce), Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- HAWKINS, D. G. & JACOBY, W. (2006) How agents matter. In HAWKINS, D. G., LAKE, D. A., NIELSON, D. L. & TIERNEY, M. J. (Eds.) *Delegation and Agency in International Organizations*. Cambridge, UK; New York, Cambridge University Press
- HEATH, R. (2010) Interview with Richard Heath, Senior Policy Advisor for the Business Action to Stop Counterfeiting and Piracy (BASCAP) at the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC), former Vice President Legal Global Anti-Counterfeiting Counsel at Unilever, former President of the International Trademark Association (INTA), Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- HELFER, L. R. (2009) Regime Shifting in the International Intellectual Property System. In *Perspectives on Politics*, 7, 39-44
- HODGE, G. A., GREVE, C. & BOARDMAN, A. E. (2010) Introduction: the PPP phenomenon and its evaluation. In HODGE, G. A., GREVE, C. & BOARDMAN, A. E. (Eds.) *International Handbook on Public-Private Partnerships*.
- HORTON, C. (1995) Policing Policy in France, PSI Publishing
- HUTHER, B. (2010) Interview with Brad Huther, Senior Advisor at United States Patent and Trademark Office, former Senior Director at the Global IP Center of the US Chamber of Commerce, former Special Attaché at World Intellectual Property Organization, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- ICC (2008) *International Anti-Counterfeiting Directory*, International Chamber of Commerce, Commercial Crime Services Division, www.icc-ccs.org/pdfs/IACD2008.pdf
- IIPCAG (2007) Intellectual Property Crimes: Trademark Counterfeiting & Copyright Piracy, IIPCAG, www.interpol.int/Public/FinancialCrime/IntellectualProperty/Publications/IIPCAGBrochure.pdf
- INT.08 (2010) Interview with a private sector participant of the International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce under the condition of anonymity, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- INT.17 (2010) Interview with a private sector participant of the International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce under the condition of anonymity, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- INTERPOL (2000) *Resolution No AGN/69/RES/6*, Interpol General Assembly, www.interpol.int/Public/ICPO/GeneralAssembly/Agn69/Resolutions/AGN69RES6.pdf
- INTERPOL (2009) East African countries crack down on counterfeiters in INTERPOL/IMPACT—supported Operation Mamba II, Interpol, www.interpol.int/Public/News/2009/OperationMambaII 20091002.asp

- INTERPOL (2010a) East Africa's Operation Mamba III bolsters fight against counterfeit medicines with INTERPOL-IMPACT support, Interpol Press Release No 66/2010, www.interpol.int/public/ICPO/PressReleases/PR2010/PR065.asp
- INTERPOL (2010b) Interpol Annual Report 2009, Interpol, www.interpol.int/Public/ICPO/InterpolAt Work/iaw2009.pdf
- INTERPOL (2010c) OASIS Africa Providing Operational Assistance, Services and Infrastructure Support to African Police Forces, Interpol, Aug 2010, www.interpol.int/Public/Region/Africa/ Oasis/Default.asp
- INTERPOL (2011a) Interpol-led operation in Americas nets fakes worth 200 million dollars, Interpol Media Release No 8/2011, 31 Jan 2011, www.interpol.int/Public/ICPO/PressReleases/PR2011/PR008.asp
- INTERPOL (2011b) *Operation Jupiter 2005-2010*, Interpol, 28 Feb 2011, www.interpol.int/Public/FinancialCrime/IntellectualProperty/OperationJupiter/Default.asp
- JACHTENFUCHS, M. (2005) The monopoly of legitimate force: denationalization, or business as usual? In *European Review*, 13, 37-52
- JOHNSTON, L. (2000) Transnational private policing the impact of global commercial security. In SHEPTYCKI, J. W. E. (Ed.) *Issues in Transnational Policing*. Routledge
- JONES, T. & NEWBURN, T. (Eds.) (2006) Plural Policing: A Comparative Perspective, Routledge
- KEOHANE, R. O. & NYE, J. S. (1974) Transgovernmental Relations and International Organizations. In *World Politics*, 27, 39-62
- KLIJN, E.-H. (2010) Public-private partnerships: deciphering meaning, message and phenomenon. In HODGE, G. A., GREVE, C. & BOARDMAN, A. E. (Eds.) *International Handbook on Public-Private Partnerships*.
- KOPP, S. (2010a) The Global Threat of Counterfeit Medicines, World Health Organization
- KOPP, S. (2010b) *Interview with Sabine Kopp, WHO IMPACT Executive Secretary a.i.*, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- KUBIC, T. (2010) Interview with Thomas Kubic, President and CEO of the Pharmaceutical Security Institute (PSI), Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- LEIBFRIED, S. & ZÜRN, M. (2005) Transformations of the State?, Cambridge University Press
- LINDER, S. H. & ROSENAU, P. V. (2000) Mapping the Terrain of Public-Private Policy Partnership. In ROSENAU, P. V. (Ed.) *Public-Private Policy Partnerships*. Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press
- MARA, K. (2008a) *Member Nations Balk At World Customs Organization IP Enforcement Push*, Intellectual Property Watch, www.ip-watch.org/weblog/2008/06/27/member-nations-balk-at-world-customs-organization-ip-enforcement-push/
- MARA, K. (2008b) *Public Interest Groups Sue US Trade Representative Over "Secret" Enforcement Treaty*, Intellectual Property Watch, www.ip-watch.org/weblog/index.php?p=1233

- MARA, K. (2010) Debate Erupts Over WHO Police Work Against Counterfeit Drugs Trade, Intellectual Property Watch, www.ip-watch.org/weblog/2010/05/20/debate-erupts-over-who-police-work-against-counterfeit-drugs-trade/
- MAWBY, R. I. (1999) Variations on a Theme: the Development of Professional Police in the British Isles and North America. In MAWBY, R. I. (Ed.) *Policing across the World*. Routledge
- MONKS, B. (2010) Interview with Brian Monks, Vice President Anti-Counterfeiting Operations at Underwriters Laboratories, Co-Chair of the Interpol IP Crime Action Group, former member of the WCO IPR Strategic Group, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- NAÍM, M. (2003) The Five Wars of Globalization. In Foreign Policy, Jan/Feb 2003, 28-37
- NEW, W. (2009a) Concern Erupts Over WTO System And Medicines Shipments; TRIPS Talks Rekindling, Intellectual Property Watch, 8 January 2009, www.ip-watch.org/weblog/2009/02/03/concernerupts-over-wto-system-and-medicines-shipments-trips-talks-rekindling/
- NEW, W. (2009b) WCO Kills SECURE Group, But Creates Health Enforcement Mandate, Intellectual Property Watch, 8 January 2009, www.ip-watch.org/weblog/2009/07/09/wco-kills-"secure"-group-but-creates-health-enforcement-mandate/
- NEWTON, J. (2009a) Interpol In *World Commerce Review*, 3, 38-40, www.worldcommercereview.com/feeds/WCRVol3Issue1
- NEWTON, J. (2009b) *Interview with John Newton, Interpol Intellectual Property Rights Programme Manager*, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- NEWTON, J. (2011) Financing effective enforcement innovative approaches, Speech given at the 6th Global Congress on Combating Counterfeiting & Piracy on Paris
- NEWTON, P. N., FERNANDEZ, F. M., PLANCON, A., MILDENHALL, D. C., GREEN, M. D., ZIYONG, L., CHRISTOPHEL, E. M., PHANOUVONG, S., HOWELLS, S., MCINTOSH, E., LAURIN, P., BLUM, N., HAMPTON, C. Y., FAURE, K., NYADONG, L., SOONG, C. W. R., SANTOSO, B., ZHIGUANG, W., NEWTON, J. & PALMER, K. (2008) A Collaborative Epidemiological Investigation into the Criminal Fake Artesunate Trade in South East Asia. In *PLoS Med*, 5, e32, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal.pmed.0050032
- NYT (1985) Businessmen act to aid New York. New York Times, 10 Nov. 1985.
- OECD (2008) *The Economic Impact of Counterfeiting and Piracy*, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, www.sourceoecd.org/
- PAUN, C. (2008) *Democratization and Police Reform*, Publikationsserver der Universität Potsdam, http://nbn-resolving.de/urn/resolver.pl?urn=urn:nbn:de:kobv:517-opus-19487
- PLANÇON, A. (2010) *Interview with Aline Plançon, Interpol-IMPACT Project Manager*, Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- REGGI, V. (2008) Issues arising from 61st World Health Assembly discussions, presentation at Third General Meeting of IMPACT, Hammamet, Tunisia, Dec. 2008, World Health Organization, www.who.int/entity/impact/resources/g.Issuesarisingfromthe61stWHA.pdf

- REINICKE, W. (1998) *Global public policy: governing without government?*, Washington, D.C., Brookings Institution Press
- REULAND, P. (2009) *Interview with Pierre Reuland, Interpol Special Representative to the EU*, Interview conducted by Klaus von Lampe and Christopher Paun
- RISSE, T. (2002) Transnational Actors and World Politics. In CARLSNAES, W., RISSE, T. & SIMMONS, B. A. (Eds.) *Handbook of International Relations*. Sage
- ROBERG, R., CRANK, J. & KUYKENDALL, J. (2000) Police & Society, Roxbury Publishing
- ROBINSON, W. (1999) The World Customs Organization. In *International Criminal Police Review*, 476-477, 81-86
- SANDHU, H. (1999) Product Counterfeiting and Interpol. In *International Criminal Police Review*, 476-477, 98-101
- SCHÄFERHOFF, M., CAMPE, S. & KAAN, C. (2009) Transnational Public-Private Partnerships in International Relations: Making Sense of Concepts, Research Frameworks, and Results. In *International Studies Review*, 11, 451-474
- SELL, S. K. (2003) *Private Power, Public Law: the globalization of intellectual property rights*, Cambridge, U.K.; New York, Cambridge University Press
- SELL, S. K. (2009) Cat and Mouse: Forum-Shifting in the Battle Over Intellectual Property Enforcement. APSA 2009 Toronto Meeting Paper. In *SSRN eLibrary*, http://ssrn.com/paper=1449227
- SLAUGHTER, A.-M. (2004) A New World Order, Princeton, Princeton University Press
- TAYLOR, M. (1987) The Possibility of Cooperation, Cambridge University Press
- TREVERTON, G. F. (2009) Film Piracy, Organized Crime, and Terrorism, Santa Monica, CA, RAND Corp.
- UIA (2010) *International Organizations Online*, Brussels, Union of International Associations, www.uia.org/db/ last accesses December 2010
- UNDP (2009) *PPPUE Programme Brochure*, Public-Private Partnerships for the Urban Environment, United Nations Development Programme, www.undp.org/pppue/about/brochure/chapter0.htm
- UNICRI (2007) Counterfeiting: a global spread, a global threat, United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute, www.unicri.it/wwd/emerging\_crimes/docs/Counterfeiting.zip
- VON LAMPE, K. (2010) *Definitions of Organized Crime*, Internetpage last accessed April 2010, www.organized-crime.de/OCDEF1.htm
- VORREUX, P. (2010a) Interview with Philippe Vorreux, Chief Legal Officer at World Customs Organization (WCO), Interview conducted by Christopher Paun
- VORREUX, P. (2010b) *IPM: A WCO initiative to combat counterfeiting*, Presentation given at the Autumn Conference 2010 of the UK Anti-Counterfeiting Group
- WADDINGTON, P. A. J. (1999) Policing Citizens: Authority and Rights, UCL Press
- WCO IPR SG (2001) Minutes Third WCO IPR Strategic Group Meeting, World Customs Organization Intellectual Property Rights Strategic Group
- WCO IPR SG (2004) WCO Model Law, Latest version May 19, 2004, WCO IPR Strategic Group

- WCO IPR SG (2007) WCO IPR Members, World Customs Organization Intellectual Property Rights Strategic Group. List last updated 2007
- WEBER, M. (1972) Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft, Mohr Siebeck
- WEIHE, G. (2008) Ordering Disorder On the Perplexities of the Partnership Literature. In *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 67, 430-442
- WETTENHALL, R. (2010) Mixes and partnerships throughout time. In HODGE, G. A., GREVE, C. & BOARDMAN, A. E. (Eds.) *International Handbook on Public-Private Partnerships*.
- WHO (2006) Counterfeit Medicines Fact sheet No 275, World Health Organization, Revised 14 November 2006, www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs275/en/index.html
- WHO (2010a) Counterfeit Medical Products, Report by the Secretariat to the World Health Assembly A63/INF.DOC./3, World Health Organization, http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA63/A63 ID3-en.pdf
- WHO (2010b) Financial report and audited financial statements for the period 1 January 2008–31 December 2009, World Health Organization, http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA63/A63\_32-en.pdf
- WHO IMPACT (2008a) *Counterfeit Drugs Kill*, World Health Organization International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce, www.who.int/entity/impact/FinalBrochureWHA2008a.pdf
- WHO IMPACT (2008b) *IMPACT Partners*, World Health Organization International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce, www.who.int/entity/medicines/services/counterfeit/IMPACTOrgParts. pdf
- WHO IMPACT (2008c) List of participants from various IMPACT meetings, World Health Organization International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce
- WHO IMPACT (2008d) Summary Report of Third IMPACT General Meeting, Dec. 2008, Hammamet, Tunisia, World Health Organization International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce, www.who.int/impact/activities/IMPACThamammetreport.pdf
- WHO IMPACT (2009) *IMPACT Terms of Reference*, World Health Organization International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce, www.who.int/impact/about/IMPACT\_ToR.pdf
- ZIMMERMANN, C. (2009) Interview with Christophe Zimmermann, Coordinator Fight Against Counterfeiting and Piracy at World Customs Organization Interview conducted by Christopher Paun,

# **BIOGRAPHICAL NOTE**

**Christopher Paun** is PhD Fellow at the Bremen International Graduate School of Social Sciences (BIGSSS), University of Bremen.

*Telephone:* +49 421 1611 6409

E-Mail: cpaun@bigsss.uni-bremen.de

Address: Universität Bremen – BIGSSS, Celsiusstr. FVG West,

28359 Bremen, Germany